1978

State of Utah v. Jack Warren Nomeland and Donald Farrell : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction of Burglary, in violation of Utah Code Annotated § 76-6-202 (Supp. 1977).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The matter was tried in the Fourth Judicial District Court, in and for Utah County, before the Honorable J. Robert Bullock, District Judge, with a Jury. Defendants were both convicted of the crime charged and sentenced to one to fifteen (1-15) years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek a reversal of their convictions or failing that, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Information charged that on or about the ninth day of November, 1977 the said defendants unlawfully entered a dwelling belonging to Florean Rebecca Dodds with intent to commit theft therein, in violation of the Utah Criminal Code, § 76-6-202.

Trial was set for the ninth day of November, 1977, with a Jury. The State called five witnesses to establish their case. The Defense called to the stand Donald Michael Farrell. Co-defendant, Jack Warren Nomeland did not take the stand. Following Mr. Farrell's testimony the defense rested and the case was submitted to the jury.

The Court instructed the jury in Instruction No. 13 of the Court's Instruction that:

"A defendant in a criminal case is not required to testify in his own behalf. The law expressly gives him the privilege of not testifying if he so desires. The fact that defendant Jack Warren Nomeland has not taken the witness stand must not be taken as any indication of his guilt, nor should you indulge in any presumption or inference adverse to him by reason thereof. The burden remains with the state, regardless of whether the defendant testifies in his own behalf or not, to prove by the evidence his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt."

The defendants had not requested such an instruction but took exception to the instruction. (T. p. 55)

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBER THIRTEEN, IN THAT, SUCH INSTRUCTION WAS TANTAMOUNT TO COMMENTING ON DEFENDANT NOWELAND'S FAILURE TO TESTIFY.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 12 of the Utah Constitution provide that a defendant cannot be compelled to give evidence against himself.

In 1965, the United States Supreme Court found the Fifth Amendment to forbid either a comment by the prosecution on an accused's silence or an instruction by the Court that such silence is evidence of guilt. Griffin v. California, (1965) 380 US 609, 14 L Ed 2d 106, 85 S Ct. 1229 Reh. den. 381 US 957, 85 S Ct. 1797, 14 L. Ed 2d 730.

In Griffin, the trial court instructed the Jury that a defendant has the constitutional right not to testify. As to the issue of guilt, the court further stated:

"As any evidence of facts against him which the defendant can reasonably be expected to deny or explain because of facts within his knowledge, if he does not testify, or if, though he does testify, he fails to deny or explain such evidence, the Jury may take that failure into consideration as tending to indicate the truth of such evidence and as indicating that among the inferences that may be reasonably drawn therefrom those unfavorable to the defendant are the more probable."

The decision to testify is often used as a trial tactic. For various reasons an accused and his counsel may decide that it is best that the accused exercise his right not to testify. In order for the privilege to be fully realized, it is essential that no aspersions whatsoever be cast upon the accused for his failure to testify. Cross v. State (Indiana 1974) 306 NE 2d 371.

The Court in Cross v. State instructed the Jury that:

"The defendant is a competent witness to testify in his own behalf. But if the defendant does not testify, his failure to do so shall not be commented upon or referred to in the argument of the cause, nor commented upon, referred to, or in any manner considered by the jury trying the same..."

The Indiana Court found that where the court intends to give such an instruction and the defendant objects, the giving of the instruction constitutes an invasion of the defendant's Fifth Amendment rights and judicial error.

In Russel v. State (1966) 240 Ark. 97, 398 SW 2d 213, the Arkansas Supreme Court faced a similar case but involving three defendants instead of two. None of the accused took the stand. The Court over the objection of the defendant told the jury that the accused had a right to testify or not to testify and that their failure to do so was not evidence of guilt and was not to be considered by the jury.

The Court found error committed and declared:

"If the accused is to have the unfettered right to testify, he should have the correlative right to say whether or not his silence should be singled out for the jury's attention."

The Court found such to be reversible error.

Following Russell v. State, an Arkansas murder defendant appealed his conviction in Mosby v. State, (Ark. 1969) 440 SW 2d 230. There the trial court gave the following instruction:

"A defendant may or may not testify in a case at his own discretion. The fact that a defendant did not testify is not evidence of his guilt or innocence and is in fact no evidence at all and is not to be considered by you in arriving at your verdict."

The Court found the instruction to be prejudicial error and reversed, citing Russell v. State.

See also, People v. Hampton, 394 Mich 437, 231 N.W. 2d 654 (1975).

In People v. Hampton, the defendant requested the instruction not be given but the court nevertheless gave the instruction that "no inference of guilt arises from the defendant's failure to take the stand". The Court found such to reversible error.

Arizona has found it reversible error to instruct on the subject unless the defendant requests such an instruction. State v. Cousins, 4 Ariz. App. 318, 420 P 2d 185 (1966); State v. Faragosa (1967) 6 Ariz. App. 80, 430 P. 2d 426.

CONCLUSION

The Court, by giving Instruction Number Thirteen (13) effectively commented on the defendant's failure to take the stand, thereby, violating the defendant's constitutional rights as guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution.