1978

State of Utah v. Jack Warren Nomeland and Donald Farrell : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction of burglary,
in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-202 (1977 Supp.).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On November 9, 1977, the matter was tried in the
Fourth Judicial District before the Honorable J. Robert
Bullock, District Judge, sitting with a jury. Both defen-
dants were convicted of the crime charged and sentenced to
one to fifteen years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmation of the judgment and
sentence of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent concurs with the statement of facts as presented in Appellant's brief.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AGAINST SELF INCRIMINATION BY GIVING JURY INSTRUCTION NUMBER THIRTEEN.

At the end of the trial in question, Judge Bullock cautioned the jury with the following instruction:

"A defendant in a criminal case is not required to testify in his own behalf. The law expressly gives him the privilege of not testifying if he so desires. The fact that defendant Jack Warren Nomeland has not taken the witness stand must not be taken as any indication of his guilt, nor should you indulge in any presumption or inference adverse to him by reason thereof. The burden remains with the state, regardless of whether the defendant testifies in his own behalf or not, to prove by the evidence his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." (R.26)

An almost identical instruction was the focal point of a recent United States Supreme Court case. In Lakeside v. Oregon, 46 L.W. 4248 (March 22, 1978) the trial judge gave an instruction which read:

"Under the laws of this State a defendant has the option to take the witness stand to testify in his or her

own behalf. If a defendant chooses not to testify, such a circumstance gives rise to no inference or presumption against the defendant, and this must not be considered by you in determining the question of guilt or innocence." Id. at 4249

The petitioner in Lakeside presented the same argument that appellant presents in the present case. He contended that "this protective instruction becomes constitutionally impermissible when given over defendant's objection." Id. at 4249.

In concluding that this argument was without merit the Court observed,

"The petitioner's argument would require indulgence in two very doubtful assumptions: First, that the jurors have not noticed that the defendant did not testify and will not, therefore, draw adverse inferences on their own. Second, that the jurors will totally disregard the instruction, and affirmatively give weight to what they have been told not to consider at all. Federal constitutional law cannot rest on speculative assumptions so dubious as these." Id. at 4250.

The Court specifically distinguished the facts of Lakeside from the case established in Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 690, 85 S.Ct. 1229 (1965), a case cited in appellant's brief. In Griffin the instruction given by the trial court stated that the jury could take defendant's failure to testify into consideration during its deliberation. Id. at 610. The Supreme Court found that this comment did violate defendant's constitutional rights. Id. at 614.

The Court in Lakeside found an important difference between the cautionary comment set out in Lakeside and the adverse comment given in Griffin:

"The Court concluded in Griffin that unconstitutional compulsion was inherent in a trial where prosecutor and judge were free to ask the jury to draw adverse inferences from a defendant's failure to take the witness stand. But a judge's instruction that the jury must draw no adverse inferences of any kind from the defendant's exercise of his privilege not to testify is 'comment' of an entirely different order. Such an instruction cannot provide the pressure on a defendant found impermissible in Griffin. On the contrary, its very purpose is to remove from the jury's deliberations any influence of unspoken adverse inferences. 46 L.W. at 4250.

Such a cautionary instruction serves to clarify the fact that a defendant has a constitutionally protected option to testify or not, as he deems appropriate. This clarification does not waive a red flag of negative inference in front of the jury.

This conclusion was also established in a New Mexico case. In New Mexico v. Garcia, 84 N.M. 519, 505 P.2d 862 (1973), two co-defendants were convicted of rape. The judge gave an instruction similar to the one in question since only one of the co-defendant's had testified during the trial. The Supreme Court said that defendant's argument that this instruction was prejudicial was meritless. "In effect, Garcia attempts to avoid an instruction which protects a constitutional right."

Id. at 863. See also Hanks v. United States, 388 F.2d 171 (10th Cir. 1968).

This Court should affirm the trial court's actions in the giving of the cautionary instruction in question. This result is mandated by law and logic. As commented in Lakeside, supra, "[i]t would be strange indeed to conclude that this cautionary instruction violates the very constitutional provision it is intended to protect."

CONCLUSION

The instruction given by trial court which cautioned the jury against making any negative presumptions or inferences because one of the defendants did not testify was properly given for the purpose of protecting appellant's important right against compulsory self-incrimination. Such action violated no rights or appellant and should be affirmed.